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INTRODUCTORY SECTION
July 25, 2022

Board of Trustees of the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority
and residents of Hamilton County, Ohio:

We are pleased to present to you the Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report (ACFR) of the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority
(“SORTA” or “The Authority”) for fiscal years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020. This ACFR was prepared by the Finance Department and
represents SORTA’s commitment to provide accurate, concise and high
-quality financial information to its Board of Trustees, interested parties
and residents in its service area.

This ACFR contains financial statements and statistical data which
provides full disclosure of SORTA’s material financial operations. The
financial statements, supplemental schedules, statistical information,
and all data contained herein are the representations of SORTA’s
management. SORTA’s management assumes full responsibility for the
accuracy, completeness and fairness of this ACFR presentation.

SORTA'’s independent auditor, Crowe LLP, has issued an unmodified
(“clean”) audit opinion on SORTA’s financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2021. Crowe’s Independent Auditors’ Report
can be found on page 11 of this ACFR.

SORTA also participates in the Federal single audit program, which
consists of a single audit of all Federally-funded programs administered
by SORTA. As a requirement for continued funding eligibility,
participation in the single audit program is mandatory for most local
governments, including SORTA. The single audit performed by
meets the requirements set forth by the State of Ohio and Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniform Guidance). The single audit report for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2021, was issued with an unmodified (“clean”)
opinion.

We are very proud that the Governmental Finance Officers Association
of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has again awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to
SORTA for its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2020, representing the 30th consecutive year the
Authority has received this award. The Certificate of Achievement is a
prestigious national award recognizing conformance to the highest
standards for preparation of state and local government financial
reports. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a
government unit must publish an easily-readable and efficiently-
organized comprehensive annual financial report, whose contents
conform to stringent program standards. The ACFR must satisfy both
generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal
requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one
year only. We believe our current report continues to conform to the
program requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to
determine our eligibility for another certificate.
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This ACFR is divided into the following three sections:

Introductory Section contains this letter of transmittal, a list of the members of the Board of
Trustees and Administration, and a Table of Organization.

Financial Section includes the Independent Auditors’ Report, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis, the financial statements (with related footnotes) for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020, the required supplementary information schedule of agency’s proportionate
share of net pension liability and benefit —OPERS traditional and combined plans, OPEB, the
required supplementary information schedule of agency’s contributions—OPERS traditional
and combined plans, OPEB and the supplemental schedule of revenues, expenses, and
changes in net position—budget and actual for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Statistical Section provides financial, economic, and demographic information which is useful for
indicating trends for comparative fiscal periods.

PROFILE OF GOVERNMENT

General

SORTA was created under Chapter 306 of the Ohio Revised Code by a resolution of the Hamilton
County Board of Commissioners adopted on October 2, 1968. SORTA's service area is comprised of
218 square miles in Hamilton County, 7 square miles in Clermont County, 17 square miles in Warren
County and 10 square miles in Butler County. This service area encompasses 12 townships, 13
villages and 22 cities, including the City of Cincinnati.

Commencement of Operations and Funding

Voters approved a City of Cincinnati income tax increase for transit in November 1972, which
permitted the City’s purchase of the privately-owned Cincinnati Transit Inc. bus system. On February
8, 1973, an agreement (the City/SORTA agreement) was executed providing terms for the operation
of the transit system and delineating the obligations of SORTA and the City of Cincinnati. SORTA’s
operation of the service commenced August 15, 1973.

SORTA receives operating and capital assistance from the U.S. Department of Transportation under
the Urban Mass Transportation Act of 1964 (the Act), as amended. Among other requirements of the
Act, state and local governments must provide a proportionate share of funds and/or support (as
defined by the Federal Transit Administration guidelines) for operating and capital assistance. In this
regard, under the terms of the City/SORTA agreement, the City provides operating and capital
assistance to SORTA from revenues derived from the income tax designated for transit operations.
Additional information about these funding sources can be found in Note 3 to the Financial
Statements.

With the passage of Issue 7 in the spring of 2020, Hamilton County voters approved a sales tax levy
of 0.8 percent and a new funding source for Metro. The funds from the sales tax levy replace the
funds SORTA had previously received through the City due to a previous successful vote to
(conditionally) rescind the portion of the City of Cincinnati’s earnings tax (0.3 percent) that previously
funded Metro services should the sales tax levy pass. The proportionate share of funds and/or support
(as defined by the Federal Transit Administration guidelines) for operating and capital assistance is
now provided for by the Hamilton County Sales Tax.
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Services

SORTA provides public transportation services through two operating divisions, Metro and Access.
Metro provides fixed route bus service throughout the service area. Currently, there are 46 fixed bus
routes, including both local service and commuter express service on weekdays during rush hours.
Operating hours generally run from about 4:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. the next day, seven days a week,
including holidays. Based on a review of 2000 U.S. Census data, it is estimated that approximately
80% of the population in SORTA'’s service area lives within three quarters of a mile of Metro fixed
route service. In 2021, Metro operated a total of about 721,000 hours of service over 9.4 million miles,
providing approximately 9.6 million rides.

Access provides demand-response, shared-ride service in Hamilton County for persons whose
disabilities prevent them from riding Metro fixed route service. Effective January 1, 2020, Access is
managed and operated by SORTA, which uses Access'’s fleet of 48 lift-equipped vehicles and 4
ambulatory vehicles. SORTA’s Director of Accessible Services provides oversight for this service. In
2021, Access provided about 130,000 passenger trips over 1.0 million vehicle miles.

Management

SORTA is managed by a Board of Trustees (the Board) which is vested by Ohio law with the powers
necessary to manage SORTA. The Board of Trustees is comprised of a 16-member volunteer citizens
board of trustees. Eleven trustees are appointed by Hamilton County and five are appointed by the
City of Cincinnati. Three of the Hamilton County appointees are non-voting trustees representing
Butler, Clermont, and Warren counties. The resolution that created SORTA, as amended in 2008, also
authorizes SORTA to evolve into a multi-state regional transit commission in the future and possibly
expand the number of Trustees to 17.

The administration of SORTA, subject to the policies and supervision of its Board of Trustees, is
directed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO selects the senior staff who manage the day-
to-day operations of the Authority. A Table of Organization which depicts the key functional
responsibilities is shown on page 9 of this Introductory Section.

Facilities
SORTA maintains six facilities at the following locations:

525 Vine Street, Suite 500, a leased facility in downtown Cincinnati, houses Metro’s
administrative offices, along with the office of SORTA staff and Board of Trustees.

120 East Fourth Street, a leased facility in downtown Cincinnati, is operated jointly with the
Transit Authority of Northern Kentucky (TANK) and provides customer services, bus rider
information, and sales services.

Bond Hill Operating Division, 4700 Paddock Road, provides indoor storage for up to 145 buses
and light maintenance work areas.

Queensgate Operating Division and Maintenance Support Facility, 1401 Bank Street,
provides indoor storage for up to 280 buses. Both heavy and light maintenance is performed at
this location. The radio control room is also housed at this facility.

Silverton Assessment and Training Center, 7000 Montgomery Road. This facility is for
assessment and training for people with disabilities.

Paratransit Operating Facility, 1801 Transpark Drive. This is the site from which our Access
division operates.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Basis of Accounting

SORTA’s accounting records are maintained on the accrual basis. The activities are accounted for in
a single enterprise (proprietary-type) fund.

Budgetary Controls

The annual accrual-basis operating budget and capital budget are proposed by SORTA’s
management and adopted by the Board of Trustees in a public meeting. The annual budget is
prepared using overall guidelines established after consideration of SORTA's strategic financial plan.
All capital and operating items exceeding $100,000 receive Board approval prior to purchase. The
strategic plan, updated annually, projects revenue sources over the next ten years and establishes
service levels and growth commensurate with such revenue limits.

SORTA maintains budgetary control by not permitting total operating expenses and expenditures for
capital projects to exceed their appropriations without approval by the Board of Trustees.
Management ensures that expenses and capital expenditures stay within the total appropriation. On a
monthly basis, the Board reviews budget variations. It is the responsibility of each department to
administer its operations in such a manner as to ensure that the use of funds is consistent with the
goals and programs authorized by the Board of Trustees.

Internal Control Structure

The management of SORTA is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control
structure designed to ensure that SORTA'’s assets are protected from loss, theft, or misuse. Its
responsibility is also to ensure that accurate accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation
of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

In developing and evaluating SORTA'’s accounting systems, emphasis is placed on the adequacy of
internal controls. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance regarding the protection of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and
the reliability of financial records used to prepare financial statements. The concept of “reasonable
assurance” recognizes that the cost of the control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived,
and that the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. Management believes that SORTA's
internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper
recording of financial transactions. Management also believes that the data, as presented herein, is
accurate in all material respects, that it presents fairly the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of SORTA, and that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to obtain an
understanding of SORTA'’s financial affairs have been included.

Financial Operating Results
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) on pages 14-19 of this ACFR provides a narrative

introduction, overview and analysis of the Authority’s basic Financial Statements. The MD&A
complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.
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YEAR IN REVIEW

During the past year, SORTA has been primarily involved in rolling out the Reinventing Metro plan, the
most aggressive and comprehensive service improvement and expansion in Metro’s history. Here are
just a few of the major accomplishments:

e Fare simplification - more than 10 different fare categories were reduced down to just three, with
free transfers when using the mobile ticketing app.

e Phase | of Reinventing Metro — included 24/7/365 service on seven routes, expanded weekday
and weekend frequency and longer span of service on most major routes and new Sunday service on
two routes.

o Phase IA of Reinventing Metro — brought additional service improvements with two new
crosstown routes and continued increases in frequency.

e New buses - equipped with free Wi-Fi service, charging ports, new seat design and a sleek,
updated window design.

e Transit Infrastructure Fund - awarded more than $30 million to support 22 transit-related projects
throughout Hamilton County.

Everybody Rides Metro Foundation — provides $500,000 annual funding to more than 40 local
social service agencies to help subsidize fare for their clients’ trips to work, training and health care.

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

General

SORTA’s primary service area is in Hamilton County, which is situated in the southwest corner of
Ohio. The county seat is the City of Cincinnati, which is located on the southern boundary of the state
on the Ohio River. Population in SORTA’s principal service area since 1960 has been as follows:

Year Cincinnati Hamilton
- - County
1960 502,550 864,121
1970 452,524 924,018
1980 385,497 873,224
1990 364,040 867,881
2000 331,285 845,303
2010 296,943 802,374
2020 306,487 820,710

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census

Hamilton County (SORTA’s primary service area) is situated in the southwest corner of Ohio and its
county seat is the City of Cincinnati. The Cincinnati Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) consists of 13
counties: Brown, Butler, Clermont, Hamilton and Warren in Ohio; Boone, Campbell, Gallatin, Grant,
Kenton and Pendleton in Kentucky; and Dearborn and Ohio in Indiana. The MSA population estimate
for 2020 (the most recent U.S. Census) was 2.2 million. Hamilton County’s population in 2020 was
820,710, which represents an increase of 2.3 percent versus the 2010 Census.
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Hamilton County’s current economic situation is mixed. The county has a diversified local economy
with strong business clusters. The region is projected to create 50,000 jobs from 2014 to 2024. Before
the pandemic occurred the county’s low unemployment rate tracked with the rest of the nation and
was lower than the State of Ohio.

Population in the county had stabilized and has seen a 3% increase since 2010. The question still
remains, however, whether the positive trends in certain areas like Downtown, OTR and Uptown are
sustainable and whether they will spread to other areas and communities.

Redevelopment is happening in the City of Cincinnati and in well-positioned suburban communities.
Some communities, however, are financially constrained and are limited in how they can partner with
the private sector on redevelopment projects.

Finally, the County faces major infrastructure needs. With the proposed construction of a new Brent
Spence Bridge and a list of other transportation projects in need of funding or support, it is critical for
the County to determine its role in prioritized projects given the limited resources available. In addition,
Hamilton County faces similar issues of other urban, Midwestern communities when attempting to
assemble marketable, available land for development.

Employment

For 2021, Hamilton County had an unemployment rate of 3.2%. The US average is 3.9%.

Like most urbanized areas, Hamilton County is facing an unprecedented labor shortage, particularly in
the areas of hospitality/restaurants, manufacturing and retail. SORTA itself is facing a dearth of bus
operator candidates.

Longer-term, weak demographic trends will keep Southwest Ohio’s economy growing more slowly
than the rest of the U.S. Nevertheless, the region has a number of positive attributes:

e Cincinnati is home to seven Fortune 500 companies with a combined economic impact of $242
billion in annual revenue.

e A number of educational institutions, including the University of Cincinnati, Xavier University,
Northern Kentucky University and Cincinnati State Technical & Community College, provide a well-
educated workforce and a steady source of long-term growth that minimizes volatility.

e In particular, large manufacturers such as Honda, Procter & Gamble and GE Aviation are great
sources of long-term stability for the area’s economy when COVID impacts are removed.

e And newcomers Amazon and DHL are bringing new jobs and a spinoff economic effect among
logistics, freight handling and delivery companies to the region.

Income

The average annual income for a Hamilton County resident is $30,062 compared to $28,555 per year
for a U.S. resident. The median household income for Hamilton County $48,927 a year, which is
slightly lower than the U.S. average of $53,482 a year. However, this is somewhat offset when
compared to the cost of living in the rest of the country. Hamilton County's cost of living is 13.5 percent
lower than the U.S. average.

As with other areas, the aftermath of COVID-19 and the “Great Resignation” and resulting labor
shortage is putting pressure on employers to increase wages and benefits to attract and retain
employees.
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Housing

The median home price is currently $206,300. Home appreciation in Hamilton County is up 7.9
percent due to increased demand and a lagging supply. Home appreciation in the U.S. over the last 10
years has been 65.2 percent while in Hamilton County that number is 18.0 percent.

Housing demand is also supported by easier access to credit, including historically low interest rates,
although the Federal Reserve Bank has been cautiously raising some rates in an attempt to forestall
inflation.

Continued interest for the development of housing (both for rent and purchase) in the downtown area
in particular is also driving the local housing market. There has also been a recent move to address
the shortage of affordable housing for low to moderate-income individuals and families.

This housing shortage is also reflected in rental property; renters make up 35.8 percent of the
Hamilton County population, yet only 2.3 percent of houses and apartments are available to rent.

Overall, housing is very affordable in the region compared to other areas of similar size.

For a comprehensive examination of the regional economic outlook, visit

https://www.bestplaces.net/economy/county/ohio/hamilton, from which many of these statistics were
derived.

FUTURE PROJECTS

Initiatives planned for 2022 include:

e In a continuation of Reinventing Metro, SORTA will introduce MetroNow, it's mobility on demand
service, on two pilot routes.

e Also part of Reinventing Metro, a study of bus rapid transit (BRT) will begin to identify the best two
corridors upon which to launch this new and improved service.

o SORTA will begin testing more sustainable ways to deliver service with a pilot program consisting
of two electric vehicles in use on its Access paratransit service for people with disabilities.


https://www.bestplaces.net/economy/county/ohio/hamilton
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OTHER INFORMATION
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Crowe

Crowe LLP
Independent Member Crowe Global

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Finance Committee
Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority
Cincinnati, Ohio

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority (“the Authority”),
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Authority as of December 31, 2021, and the changes in financial
position and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Authority and
to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to
our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Authority for the year ended December 31, 2020, were audited by other
auditors, who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on July 20, 2021.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority's ability to continue as
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

(Continued)

12



FINANCIAL SECTION

Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

* Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

* |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management'’s
discussion and analysis, schedule of the Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability, the
schedule of the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension asset, the schedules of the Authority’s
contributions and the schedule of the Authority’s proportionate share of net OPEB liability as identified in
the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

(Continued)
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The supplemental schedule of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position — budget and actual (GAAP basis) is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, supplemental schedule of revenues, expenses and changes in net position —
budget and actual (GAAP basis) is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information
comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the basic financial statements does not cover the other
information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information
exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 25, 2022
on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Crowe LLP

Crowe LLP

Columbus, Ohio
July 25, 2022




FINANCIAL SECTION

Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority (the “Authority”) is pleased to present readers of these
financial statements with the following narrative overview and analysis of the Authority's financial
activities for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. This discussion and analysis is designed to
assist the reader in focusing on material financial issues and activities and to identify material
changes in financial position. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in
conjunction with the financial statements as a whole.

Financial Highlights

e The Authority’s total net position at the end of 2021 was $154.4 million, which represents an
increase of $112.8 million, or 371.5%, compared to the balance at the end of 2020.

e Operating revenue for the year was $12.5 million, which represents an increase of about $0.6
million, or 5.0%, from 2020.

e Operating expenses for the year (excluding depreciation and amortization) were $81.2 million,
which represents a decrease of $25.5 million, or 23.9%, over 2020.

o Non-operating revenues, net of non-operating expenses, including federal, state and local
subsidies, were $175.2 million in 2021, which represents an increase of $29.7 million, or 20.4%,
compared to 2020.

Overview of Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority's financial
statements, which includes the basic financial statements and the notes to the financial statements.
This report contains supplementary information concerning the Authority’s net position and changes in
net position, in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Required Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Authority are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the
Authority’s finances in a manner similar to private-sector business.

The Statement of Net Position presents financial information on all of the Authority’'s assets, deferred
outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows, with the difference reported as net position. Over time,
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position
of the Authority is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information about how
the Authority’s net position changed during the fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as
soon as the event occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future
fiscal periods (e.g. earned but unused vacation leave).

The Statement of Cash Flows reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash
resulting from operations, investing, and financing activities. It provides answers to such questions as
where did cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance
during the reporting period.
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in
the basic financial statements.

Condensed Statements of Net Position Compared to Prior Year
(amounts in thousands)

Current assets

Capital assets - net

Other

non-current assets
Total assets

Deferred outflows of resources

Total assets and deferred
outflows of resources

Current Liabilities

Non-c

urrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources

Total liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources

Net position

Note: Totals shown above may not be mathematically accurate as displayed due to rounding.

Net investment in capital assets

Restricted

Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and net position

As of December 31,
2021 2020 2019

$110,625 $69,759 $32,298
109,994 101,123 99,913
45,468 12,123 4,457
266,087 183,005 136,669
15,256 18,760 32,316
$281,342 $201,765 $168,985
$22,615 $14,096 $24,001
61,017 123,755 152,887
83,632 137,851 176,888
43,323 22,360 2,364
126,955 160,210 179,252
109,869 99,144 93,763
48,409 12,101 406
(3,891) (69,690) (104,438)
154,387 41,555 (10,269)
$281,342 $201,765 $168,983
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FINANCIAL SECTION

Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As noted earlier, net position over time may serve as a useful indicator of the Authority’s financial
position. As of December 31, 2021, the Authority’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources
exceeded total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $154.4 million, which is an increase in
net position of $112.8 million, or 371.5% from 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Authority's total
assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources
by $41.6 million, which is an increase in net position of $51.8 million, or 504.7% from 2019. It is further
noted that over the past seven years, the adoption of GASB 68 and 75 (see Notes 8 and 9) has
decreased the net position of the Authority by $74.1 million.

By far the largest portion of the Authority’s net position is its investment in capital assets, less the
outstanding balance of any debt used to acquire those assets. Capital assets include land and land
improvements, revenue producing and service equipment, buildings and structures, shop equipment,
office furnishings and computer equipment. The Authority uses these capital assets to provide public
transportation service in Hamilton County and small portions of Warren, Clermont and Butler
Counties. These assets are not available to liquidate liabilities or for other spending.

The Authority’s net investment in capital assets as of December 31, 2021, amounts to $109.9
million, net of accumulated depreciation, which is an increase of $10.7 million, or 10.8%, from 2020.

Major capital asset expenditures during 2021 included the following:

e $20.2 million to purchase 39 new 40-foot buses.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $15.9 million in 2021.

The Authority’s net investment in capital assets as of December 31, 2020, amounts to $99.1 million,
net of accumulated depreciation, which is an increase of $5.4 million, or 5.7%, from 2019.

Major capital asset expenditures during 2020 included the following:

e $9.7 million to purchase 19 new 40-foot buses.

e $4.0 million of assets (of which $1.2 million was transferred from prior year construction in
progress) related to the opening of Northside Transit Center were put into service during
2020.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $15.8 million in 2020.

See Note 5 to the financial statements for more detailed information regarding capital assets.

Debt Administration
The Authority maintains no short- or long-term debt, other than certain capital leases on occasion.
There were no outstanding capital leases as of December 31, 2021 or 2020.
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

(amounts in thousands)

Operating revenues:

Passenger fares

Other operating revenues
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses other than depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense
Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Non-operating revenues:
Operating assistance from City of Cincinnati
Sales and use tax revenue
Federal maintenance grants
Local operating grants and assistance
Other non-operating revenues

Total non-operating revenues

Net income (loss) before capital grant activity
Capital grant revenue

Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year (restated for 2021)
Net position, end of year

Note: Totals shown above may not be mathematically accurate as displayed due to rounding.

Operating Revenues

For fiscal years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
$11,500 $11,100 $21,210
1,029 838 1,851
12,529 11,938 23,060
81,220 106,712 127,188
15,901 15,843 14,691
97,122 122,555 141,879
(84,592) (110,617) (118,819)
9,480 60,380 56,104
134,772 33,464 0
24,206 47,068 14,400
1,913 2,778 6,221
4,836 1,770 8,652
175,206 145,460 85,377
90,614 34,843 (33,442)
24,709 16,980 31,558
115,322 51,823 (1,884)
39,065 (10,268) (8,384)
$154,387 $41,555 ($10,268)

The Authority’s operating revenues were $12.5 million in 2021, which represents an increase of $0.6
million, or 5.0%, compared to 2020. This increase is due primarily to the restrictions of the COVID-19
pandemic, which led to increased service provided and ridership during the year.

The Authority’s operating revenues were $11.9 million in 2020, which represents a decrease of $11.1
million, or 48.2%, compared to 2019. This decrease is due primarily to the COVID-19 pandemic, which
led to decreased service provided and ridership during the year.

18



FINANCIAL SECTION

Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Management’'s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Operating Expenses

The Authority’s operating expenses, other than depreciation and amortization, were $81.2 million in
2021, which represents a decrease of $25.5 million, or 23.9%, compared to 2020. This increase was
driven by several factors:

e $5.2 million increase in labor due to increased service during 2021, and a retroactive
increase for all of 2021 for bargaining unit employees as a result of a new labor agreement
passed in early 2022.

e $9.0 million increase in casualty and liability due to increased claims payouts and an
increase in claims reserve over prior year.

These increases were partially offset by:

e $44.1 million decrease in pension and OPEB expense primarily due to change in net OPEB
asset.

The Authority’s operating expenses, other than depreciation and amortization, were $106.7 million in
2020, which represents a decrease of $20.5 million, or 16.1%, compared to 2019. This decrease was
driven by several factors:

e $10.2 million decrease in purchased transportation services due to the direct operation of
Access service effective January 1, 2020.

e $8.4 million decrease in fringe benefits includes a $10.6 million decrease to adjust pension
accruals due to favorable investment results.

e $4.7 million decrease in casualty and liability due to decreased claims payouts and a
decrease in claims reserve over prior year.

These decreases were partially offset by:

e $3.6 million increase in labor primarily due to the direct operation of Access service.
Non-Operating Revenues

Non-operating revenues were $175.2 million in 2021, which is an increase of $29.7 million, or 20.4%,
over 2020. This increase is due to $101.3 million from sales and use tax revenue, offset by a decrease
of $50.9 million from the City of Cincinnati Income Tax Transit Fund.

Non-operating revenues were $145.4 million in 2020, which is an increase of $60.1 million, or 70.4%,
over 2019. This increase is due to $33.5 million from sales and use tax revenue (Hamilton County
sales tax initiative which passed in May, 2020), and $32.7 million in federal funding (primarily CARES
Act funds provided as relief to COVID-19 pandemic).
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Management's Discussion and Analysis (concluded)

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority's finances for all those
who are interested. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional financial information should be addressed to the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority,
Chief Financial Officer, 525 Vine Street, Suite 500, Cincinnati, Ohio, 45202.
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Statements of Net Position
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Investments (Note 4)
Receivables:
Sales and use tax
Federal assistance

City of Cincinnati Income Tax Transit Fund

State assistance
Capital assistance
Other
Inventory of materials and supplies

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted investments (Note 4)
Net pension asset (Note 8)
Net OPEB asset - OPERS (Note 9)
Capital assets (Note 5):
Land and buildings
Improvements
Revenue vehicles
Other equipment
Construction in progress
Total capital assets

Less allowance for depreciation and amortization

FINANCIAL SECTION

2021 2020
- 14,078
56,491,684 26,452,766
38,257,241 33,079,134
- 2,490,000
9,479,740 -
2,311,065 1,740,375
722,683 1,250,623
909,627 2,323,246
1,599,162 1,518,881
853,543 890,173
110,624,745 69,759,276
37,987,180 11,388,473
1,064,610 734,660
6,415,827 -
15,284,789 15,179,789
41,557,965 40,687,030
172,264,126 167,051,148
42,790,349 39,140,827
825,533 2,599,387
272,722,762 264,658,181

(162,728,595)

(163,535,313)

Capital assets, net 109,994,167 101,122,868

Total noncurrent assets 155,461,784 113,246,001

Total assets 266,086,529 183,005,277

Deferred Outflows of Resources:

OPEB (Note 9) 4,674,550 7,673,030

Pension (Note 8) 10,581,214 11,086,857

Total deferred outflows of resources 15,255,764 18,759,887

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 281,342,293 $ 201,765,164

(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 21
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Statements of Net Position
As of December 31,2021 and 2020 (continued)

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND NET POSITION 2021 2020
Current liabilities:
Checks written in excess of cash balance (Note 4) 6,839,160 S -
Accounts payable 2,585,547 2,175,801
Accounts payable - capital additions 124,756 1,978,937
Accrued payroll 2,016,701 731,227
Accrued payroll taxes and other benefits 6,273,406 5,190,115
Current portion of estimated claims payable (Note 10) 4,030,716 2,920,638
Other current liabilities 744,873 1,099,136
Total current liabilities 22,615,159 14,095,854
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Estimated claims payable, net of current portion (Note 10) 4,354,773 7,356,806
Net OPEB liability - OPERS (Note 9) - 47,356,353
Net pension liability (Note 8) 53,476,710 67,970,413
Other post employment benefits (Note 9) 1,797,172 888,199
Other non-current liabilities 1,388,179 183,079
Total non-current liabilities 61,016,834 123,754,850
Total liabilities 83,631,993 137,850,704
Deferred Inflows of Resources:
OPEB (Note 9) 19,731,000 7,008,650
Pension (Note 8) 23,592,155 15,350,914
Total deferred inflows of resources 43,323,155 22,359,564
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 109,869,411 99,143,931
Restricted for:
Net pension asset 1,064,610 734,660
City of Cincinnati Income Tax Transit Fund escrow 3,000,000 3,000,000
Sales and use tax - Infrastructure 44,343,914 8,365,989
Unrestricted (3,890,790) (69,689,684)
Total net position 154,387,145 41,554,896

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position $ 281,342,293 $ 201,765,164

(concluded)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Operating Revenues
Passenger fares for transit service
Special transit fares
Auxiliary transportation revenue
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses other than depreciation:
Labor
Fringe benefits
Materials and supplies consumed
Services
Utilities
Casualty and liability
Taxes
Purchased transportation services
Leases and rentals
Miscellaneous
Pension and OPEB expense (revenue)

Total operating expenses other than depreciation

Depreciation and amortization (Note 5)
Total operating expenses

Operating loss

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

2021

$ 11,500,345

FINANCIAL SECTION

2020

$ 11,100,072

499,824 412,526
528,898 425,859
12,529,067 11,938,457
56,404,084 51,229,501
30,857,827 26,638,722
11,888,785 10,674,474
7,312,065 5,073,208
1,809,246 2,162,329
11,272,847 69,278
1,277,266 1,007,913
- 49,266

879,026 726,860
3,647,403 915,554
(44,128,119) 8,164,699
81,220,430 106,711,804
15,901,098 15,843,438
97,121,528 122,555,242

$ (84,592,461)

$(110,616,785)

(continued)
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (continued)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):

Operating assistance from the City of Cincinnati

Income Tax Transit Fund (Note 3)
Sales and use tax revenue

Federal maintenance grants and reimbursements (Note 6)
State maintenance grants, reimbursements and special fare

assistance (Note 6)

Local operating grants and special fare assistance (Note 6)

Investment income, net (Note 4)

Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments

Non-transportation revenue
Other non-operating expenses

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Net income before capital grant activity
Capital grant revenue (Note 6)
Increase in net position during the year
Net position, beginning of year

Cumulative effect of adoption of new accounting principle
Net position, beginning of year restated (Note 2)

Net position, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(concluded)

2021 2020

9,479,740 $ 60,380,212
134,771,748 33,463,956
24,205,919 47,067,501
4,104,365 2,716,013
1,912,959 2,777,784
87,162 175,554
(126,128) 333
770,309 437,316

- (1,558,998)
175,206,074 145,459,671
90,613,613 34,842,886
24,708,636 16,979,810
115,322,249 51,822,696
41,554,896 (10,267,800)
(2,490,000) -
39,064,896 (10,267,800)

$ 154,387,145

S 41,554,896
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Statements of Cash Flows

For Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from fares and special service
Payments for labor and employee benefits
Payments to suppliers
Payments for claims and insurance
Net cash used in operating activities

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:
Transfer from City of Cincinnati Income Tax Transit Fund
Federal maintenance grants and reimbursements
State maintenance grants, reimbursements
and special fare assistance
Sales and use tax
Other non-operating expenses
Other local operating assistance received
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Capital grants received:
Federal and other local
Additions to capital assets
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Net cash payments from investment securities
Interest received
Net cash used in investing activities
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year (Checks in Excess of Cash Balance)

(continued)

2021

FINANCIAL SECTION

2020

$ 11,504,063
(78,619,919)
(27,193,028)
(12,801,976)

$ 13,264,492
(78,759,343)
(17,297,055)

(7,066,529)

(107,110,860)

(89,858,435)

- 60,352,093
24,205,919 48,485,222
3,533,675 5,070,295
129,593,641 384,822
- (1,558,998)

1,541,152 3,187,810
158,874,387 115,921,244
24,708,636 3,043,525
(26,626,578) (15,141,408)
(1,917,942) (12,097,883)

(56,763,753)

(18,674,493)

64,930 236,715

(56,698,823) (18,437,778)

(6,853,238) (4,472,852)
14,078 4,486,930

S (6,839,160) S 14,078

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Statements of Cash Flows

For Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (continued)

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities:
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-transportation revenue
Effect of changes in assets, liabilities, deferred outflows and inflows:
Other receivables
Deferred outflow of resources - OPEB
Deferred outflow of resources - pension
Receivables for capital assistance
Inventory of materials and supplies
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Net pension asset
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Other post employment benefits
Deferred inflow of resources - OPEB
Deferred inflow of resources - pension
Estimated claims payable
Net cash used in operating activities

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Activity
Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments

Capital additions in payables

(concluded)

2021

2020

$ (84,592,461)

15,901,098
770,309

1,435,851
2,998,480
505,643
527,940
(80,281)
36,630
(329,950)
409,746
2,368,765
1,222,644
(53,772,180)
(14,493,703)
908,973
12,722,350
8,241,241
(1,891,955)

$(110,616,785)

15,843,438
437,316

135,221
(3,785,242)
17,341,100
(1,119,163)
(96,134)
(269,856)
(328,999)
(1,681,191)
548,459
(53,833)
2,198,142
(27,255,651)
42,171
6,886,122
13,109,227
(1,192,777)

$(107,110,860)

$ (89,858,435)

$  (126,128)

S 333

S 124,756

S 1,978,937

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SECTION

Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020

1. Organization and Reporting Entity

A. Organization

The Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority (“SORTA” or the “Authority” or “Metro”) is
responsible for the operation of the Greater Cincinnati public transit system. SORTA is
organized under Sections 306.30 through 306.53 of the Ohio Revised Code and is not subject
to income taxes. SORTA is the policy-making body for the transit system known as Metro and
operated under an agreement with the City of Cincinnati (the “City”) through September 30,
2020. On October 1, 2020, SORTA began receiving sales tax revenue from Hamilton County,
Ohio (the “County”) as a result of the successful passage of a ballot initiative in May, 2020 (see
Note 3).

B. Reporting Entity

The Authority has adopted the provisions of GASB codification. Accordingly, the
accompanying financial statements include only the accounts and transactions of the Authority.
Under the criteria specified in Statements No. 14, 39 and 61, the Authority has no material
component units, nor is it considered a component unit of the City or the County. These
conclusions regarding the financial reporting entity are based on the concept of financial
accountability. The Authority is not financially accountable for any other organization, nor is the
City or County accountable for SORTA. This is evidenced by the fact that the Authority is a
legally and fiscally separate and distinct organization under the provisions of the Ohio Revised
Code.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues and expenses
are recognized in the period earned or incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash
flows. All transactions are accounted for in a single enterprise fund.

B. Net Position Classifications

GASB Statement No. 34, “Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s Discussion and
Analysis—for State and Local Governments: Omnibus,” as amended by GASB Statement No.
63, “Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources,
and Net Position,” requires the classification of net position into the following three
components:

e Net investment in capital assets—consisting of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balance of borrowings that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.
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Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
As of December 31,2021 and 2020 (continued)

o Restricted—consisting of net position, the use of which is limited by external constraints
imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, laws or
regulations of other governments, constitutional provisions or enabling legislation,
reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of resources related to those assets.

e Unrestricted—consisting of net position, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the determination of “investment
in capital assets” or “restricted.” This includes amounts that are designated or reserved
by the Board of Trustees.

C. Non-exchange Transactions

The Authority follows GASB Statement No. 33, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Non-
exchange Transactions.” In general, GASB Statement No. 33 establishes accounting and
financial reporting standards about when to report the results of non-exchange transactions
involving financial or capital resources. In a non-exchange transaction, an entity gives (or
receives) value without directly receiving or giving equal value in return. The Authority’s principal
non-exchange transactions involve the receipt of monies from sales tax collections from
Hamilton County, Ohio (see Note 3), along with federal, state and local grants for operating
assistance and the acquisition of property, facilities and equipment. Substantially all of the
Authority’s non-exchange transactions represent reimbursement-type grants, which are
recorded as revenue in the period the related expenditures are incurred, and are recorded as
liabilities when the funds are received until the expenditures are incurred.

D. Passenger Fares

Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time services are performed and revenues
pass through the farebox.

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid
investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased and certificates of deposit to be cash equivalents.

F. Investments

The Authority’s investments (including cash equivalents) are recorded at fair value (based on
quoted market prices), except that short-term, highly-liquid debt investments, with a remaining
maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less are reported at amortized cost.

The Authority has invested funds in STAROhio, an investment pool managed by the State
Treasurer’s office that allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment
purposes. STARONhio is not registered with the SEC as an investment company, but does
operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940.
Investments in STARONhio are valued at STAROhio’s share price, which is the price at which the
investment could be sold.
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G. Inventory of Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies are stated at cost, which is determined using the average cost method.
These items are expensed when consumed or used, rather than when purchased.

H. Restricted Assets

Restricted assets consist of funds received or receivable under various federal, state and local
capital grants, including the local matching share received from the City Income Tax-Transit
Fund (see Note 3). These assets are restricted for capital and other project expenditures.
When both restricted or unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Authority’s policy
to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as needed.

I. Capital Assets and Depreciation

Capital assets are stated at cost and include expenditures which substantially increase the
utility or useful lives of existing assets. Maintenance parts are expensed when placed in service.
Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Assets acquired with capital grants
or under capital lease having a value of $5,000 or more are also included in capital assets, and
depreciation/amortization of the cost of those assets is included in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Depreciation/amortization is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, as follows:

Description Years
Buildings 40
Improvements 15
Revenue vehicles 4-12
Other equipment 3-10

J. Claims

As described in Note 10, SORTA is self-insured for public liability, personal injury, third-party
property damage, health insurance, and workers’ compensation claims. SORTA recognizes a
liability for such claims if information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates
that it is probable that a liability has been incurred as of the date of the financial statements and
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

The liability recorded includes the estimated incremental expenses to be incurred to settle the
claims, including legal fees. Claims liabilities are based on evaluations of individual claims and a
review of experience, with respect to the probable number and nature of claims arising from
losses that have been incurred but have not yet been reported. The claims liabilities represent
the estimated ultimate cost of settling the claims, including the effects of inflation and other
societal and economic factors. Estimated future recoveries on settled and unsettled claims,
such as subrogations, if any, are evaluated in terms of their estimated realizable value and
deducted from the liability for unpaid claims. Any adjustments resulting from the actual
settlement of the claims are reflected in earnings at the time the adjustments are determined.
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K. Compensated Absences

Vacation pay is accrued and charged to expense as earned.

L. Budgetary Accounting and Control

SORTA'’s annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. The budget includes
amounts for current year revenues and expenses as well as new capital projects. The
Authority maintains budgetary control by not permitting total operating expenses (excluding
depreciation and amortization) and expenditures for individual capital projects to exceed
revenue sources without approval by the Board of Trustees. No budget amendments were
passed for 2021 or 2020. All operating budget amounts lapse at year end.

M. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, deferred outflows, deferred
inflows, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

N. Operating and Non-operating Revenues and Expenses

The Authority considers passenger fares, special transit fares and bus advertising revenues
as operating revenues. Non-operating revenues include investment and other miscellaneous
income and subsidies received from federal, state and local sources. Expenses incurred for
the daily operations of the transit system are considered operating expenses. Non-operating
expenses include payments made to Butler County Regional Transit Authority (BCRTA),
Clermont Transportation Connection (CTC) and Warren County Transit System (WCTS),
pursuant to agreements in which BCRTA, CTC and WCTS transferred Federal funds to
SORTA in exchange for non-federal funds from SORTA in the same amount.

0. Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net pension/OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, and pension/OPEB expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the pension/OPEB plans and additions to/
deductions from their fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they
are reported by the pension/OPEB plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with
the benefit terms. The pension/OPEB plans report investments at fair value.

P. Deferred Outflows and Inflows

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of
net assets that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense) until then. See Notes 8 and 9 for detail on the Authority’s deferred
outflows of resources related to its net pension liability (asset) and net other postemployment
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benefits (OPEB) liability, respectively. In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position
reports a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources
represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period and will not be

recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. See Notes 8 and 9 for detail

on the Authority’s deferred inflows of resources related to its net pension liability (asset) and net
OPEB liability, respectively.

Q. Restatement of Net Position

Subsequent to the issuance of the ACFR for the year ending December 31, 2020, SORTA
adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Implementation Guide No. 2019-1.
This impacts Federal maintenance grants and reimbursements recorded in 2020, reducing
income by $2,490,000. As this impacts periods prior to 2021, this has been recorded as a
restatement of Net Position at January 1, 2021.

The following summarizes the restated Net Position at January 1, 2021:

Net Position - January 1, 2021 $ 41,554,896
Adjustments:

Adoption of GASB 2019-1 (2,490,000)
Restated Net Position - January 1, 2021 $ 39,064,896

R. Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
The reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net position or changes therein.
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3. Federal Grants and Local Reimbursement

SORTA receives capital assistance from the U.S. Department of Transportation under the Urban
Mass Transportation Act of 1964 (the “Act”), as amended. Among other requirements of the Act,
state and local governments must provide a proportionate share of funds and/or support (as de-
fined by the Federal Transit Administration guidelines) for capital assistance. In addition to federal
and state capital assistance, funding is also provided by a portion of the County sales tax levy
which became effective October 1, 2020.

In May, 2020, the voters of the County passed Issue 7, which approved a 0.8 percent countywide
sales tax increase for transit service (75 percent) and transit-related infrastructure improvements
(25 percent). This also triggered elimination of the 0.3 percent City of Cincinnati earnings tax (City
Income Tax-Transit Fund) on City residents and workers that had been Metro's primary funding
source for more than 40 years.

Collections of the 0.3 percent City of Cincinnati earnings tax stopped the day after the new sales
tax collection started on October 1, 2020. The Authority began receiving sales tax funding from
the approved 0.8% increase in January, 2021.

4, Cash and Investments

The investment and deposit of Authority monies are governed by the provisions of the Ohio Re-
vised Code and the Authority’s established policies. Accordingly, only banks located in Ohio and
domestic building and loan associations are eligible to hold public deposits. The Authority is also
permitted to invest its monies in certificates of deposit, savings accounts, money market ac-
counts, STAROhio, commercial paper and obligations of the United States government and cer-
tain agencies thereof. The Authority may also enter into repurchase agreements for a period not
exceeding thirty days with banks located within the State of Ohio with which the Authority has
signed a Master Repurchase Agreement. At the time of making an investment, the Authority’s
Treasurer must reasonably expect that the investment can be held until maturity. To the extent
possible, the Treasurer will attempt to match its investments with anticipated cash flow require-
ments. Unless matched to a specific cash flow requirement, the Treasurer will not directly invest
in securities maturing more than five years from the settlement date of purchase.

Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. These institutions may ei-
ther specifically collateralize individual accounts in excess of amounts insured by the Federal De-
posit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), may pledge a pool of government securities valued at least
105% of the total value of public monies on deposit at the institution, or may deposit surety com-
pany bonds that when executed shall be for an amount in excess of collateral requirements. Re-
purchase agreements must be secured by the specific government securities upon which the re-
purchase agreements are based. These securities must be obligations of or guaranteed by the
United States Government and must mature or be redeemable within five years of the date of the
related repurchase agreement. The fair value of the securities subject to a repurchase agreement
must exceed the value of the principal by 2% and be marked to market daily. State law does not
require security for public deposits and investments to be maintained in the Authority’s name.
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The Authority is prohibited from investing in any financial instrument, contract, or obligation whose
value or return is based upon or linked to another asset or index, or both, separate from the
financial instrument, contract, or obligation itself (commonly known as a “derivative”). The Authority
is also prohibited from investing in reverse repurchase agreements.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Authority maintained restricted cash and cash equivalents
and investments of $37,987,180 and $11,388,473, respectively, and unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents and investments of $49,652,524 and $26,466,844, respectively. The total cash and
investments of $87,639,704 and $37,855,317, respectively, consisted of $0 and $14,078,
respectively, in deposits and $94,478,864 and $37,841,239, respectively, in investments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of an investment may decline based on changes in
market interest rates. This risk can be reduced, but not eliminated, through the use of common
portfolio strategies such as structure (maintaining laddered maturity dates) and diversification (by
type of investment, by issuer or by maturity date). Generally, SORTA utilizes a strategy of
diversifying its investments while maintaining sufficient liquidity to cover anticipated operating
expenses. The Ohio Revised Code limits the investment options for all Ohio public entities,
including SORTA.

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government’s deposits may
not be returned to it. The Authority’s policy for deposits is collateral is required for demand
deposits and certificates of deposit at 105% of all deposits not covered by federal deposit
insurance. The collateral is pooled through the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS). Under this
program, public depositories that pledge a collateral pool using the method prescribed in Ohio
Rev. Code § 135.18(A)(2) or Ohio Rev. Code § 135.37(A)(2) shall pledge to the Treasurer of State
a single pool of eligible securities for the benefit of all public depositors to secure the repayment of
all uninsured public deposits at the public depository; provided that at all times the total fair value
of securities so pledged is at least equal to either 102% of the total amount of all uninsured public
deposits or an amount determined by rules adopted by the Treasurer of State that set forth the
criteria for determining the aggregate fair value of the pool of eligible securities pledged by a public
depository. Such criteria shall include, but are not limited to, prudent capital and liquidity
management by the public depository and the safety and soundness of the public depository as
determined by a third-party rating organization. Obligations that may be pledged as collateral are
obligations of the United States and its agencies and obligations of the state and its municipalities,
school districts, and district corporations. Obligations pledged to secure deposits must be delivered
to a bank other than the institution in which the deposit is made. Written custodial agreements are
required. The carrying value of the Authority’s deposits was ($6,839,160) and $14,078 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. At December 31, 2021, the bank balance of $247,765
was covered by federal depository insurance and $0 was covered by OPCS. At December 31,
2020, the bank balance of $250,000 was covered by federal depository insurance and $379,885
was covered by OPCS.
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Although the pledging bank has an investment and securities pool used to collateralize all public
deposits, which held in the financial institution’s name, noncompliance with federal requirements
could potentially subject the Authority to a successful claim by the FDIC. The deposits not covered
by federal depository insurance are considered uninsured and uncollateralized and subject to
custodial credit risk.

Investments
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the fair value of the Authority’s investments were as follows:

2021 2020

Star Treasury Reserve of Ohio (STAROhio)  $ 77,891,702 $ 30,853,103

U.S. Agency bonds 12,470,897 -
Commercial paper 4,116,265 6,988,136
Total investments $ 94,478,864 $ 37,841,239

Investments held by the Authority at December 31, 2021 are presented below, categorized by
investment type, maturity, and credit quality rating. Credit quality ratings provide information about
the investments’ credit risk, which is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment
will not fulfill its obligations. No deposits were subject to custodial credit risk. STAROhio does not
have any minimum holding periods or withdrawal penalties.

Investment Not Below
Type Balance Rated AAA AAAmM BBB
Star Treasury Reserve
of Ohio (STAROhio) $ 77,891,702 $ -8 -$ 77,891,702 $
U.S. Agency bonds 12,470,897 - 12,470,897 -
Commercial paper 4,116,265 4,116,265 - -
Total Investments $ 94,478,864 $ 4,116,265 $ 12,470,897 $ 77,891,702 $

The following table presents the Authority’s investments as of December 31, 2021, by length of
maturity.

Investment Less Than 1to5 6 to 10 More Than
Type Balance 1 Year Years Years 10 Years
Star Treasury Reserve
of Ohio (STAROhio) $ 77,891,702 § 77,891,702 $ -$ - %
U. S. Agency bonds $ 12,470,897 $ -3 12,470,897 $ - 3%
Commercial paper $ 4,116,265 $ 4,116,265 $ - $ - $
Total Investments $ 94,478,864 $ 82,007,967 $ 12,470,897 $ - 3%
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Investments held by the Authority at December 31, 2020 are presented below, categorized by
investment type, maturity, and credit quality rating. Credit quality ratings provide information about
the investments’ credit risk, which is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment
will not fulfill its obligations. No deposits were subject to custodial credit risk. STAROhio does not
have any minimum holding periods or withdrawal penalties.

Investment Type Balance Not Rated AAA AAAmM Below BBB
Star Treasury Reserve
of Ohio (STAROhio) ¢ 30.853,103  § -3 - $ 30,853,103 §$ .
Commercial paper 6,988,136 6,988,136 - - -
Total Investments $ 37,841,239 $ 6,988,136 $ - $ 30,853,103 $ -

The following table presents the Authority’s investments as of December 31, 2020, by length of
maturity.

Less Than 1to 5 6 to 10 More Than
Investment Type Balance 1 Year Years Years 10 Years
Star Treasury Reserve
of Ohio (STAROhio) $ 30,853,103 $ 30,853,103 §$ - $ - 9 -
Commercial paper $ 6,988,136 $ 6,988,136 $ - % - -
Total Investments $ 37,841,239 $ 37,841,239 $ - $ - $ -

STARONhio is valued at amortized cost.

The Authority categorizes its fair value measurements at fair value within the fair value hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation
inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices in active
markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs (quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities
in markets that are not active or inputs such as investments and yield curves, implied volatility, and
credit spreads); Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.
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As of December 31, 2021 the Authority’s investments had the following recurring fair value
measurements:

Investment
Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
U. S. Agency bonds $ - $ 12,470,897 $ - $ 12,470,897
Commercial paper $ - $ 4116265 §$ - $ 4,116,265
Total Investments $ - $ 16,587,162 $ - $ 16,587,162

As of December 31, 2020 the Authority’s investments had the following recurring fair value
measurements:

Investment
Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Commercial paper $ - $ 6988136 § - $ 6,988,136

Cash, cash equivalents and investments at December 31, 2021 and 2020 consist of the following:

2021 2020
Deposits $ (7,831,487) $ 14,078
Certificates of Deposit 992,327 -
STAR Ohio 77,891,702 30,853,103
U.S. Agency bonds 12,470,897 -
Commercial paper 4,116,265 6,988,136

$ 87,639,704 $ 37,855,317
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5. Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:

Balance Balance
January 1, December 31,
2021 Additions Deletions Transfers 2021
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 13,718548 $ 105,000 $ - $ - $ 13,823,548
Construction in progress 2,599,387 691,306 - (2,465,160) 825,533
Total capital assets
not being depreciated 16,317,935 796,306 - (2,465,160) 14,649,081
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 1,461,241 - - - 1,461,241
Improvements 40,687,030 870,935 - - 41,557,965
Revenue vehicles 167,051,148 20,202,886 16,550,883 1,560,975 172,264,126
Other equipment 39,140,827 2,912,493 167,156 904,185 42,790,349
Total capital assets being depreciated 248,340,246 23,986,314 16,718,039 2,465,160 258,073,681
Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings 780,298 36,531 - - 816,829
Improvements 29,683,076 1,489,695 - - 31,172,771
Revenue vehicles 98,009,701 12,527,597 16,540,660 - 93,996,638
Other equipment 35,062,238 1,847,275 167,156 - 36,742,357
Total accumulated depreciation 163,535,313 15,901,098 16,707,816 - 162,728,595
Total capital assets
being depreciated, net 84,804,933 8,085,216 10,223 2,465,160 95,345,086
Total capital assets, net $ 101,122,868 $ 8,881,522 $ 10,223 $ - $ 109,994,167
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Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2020 was as follows:

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets
not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings
Improvements
Revenue vehicles
Other equipment
Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings
Improvements
Revenue vehicles
Other equipment
Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets
being depreciated, net

Total capital assets, net

Balance Balance
January 1, December 31,

2020 Additions Deletions Transfers 2020
$ 13,153,897 $ - $ - $ 564651 $ 13,718,548
1,441,559 2,481,219 - (1,323,391) 2,599,387
14,595,456 2,481,219 - (758,740) 16,317,935
1,461,241 - - - 1,461,241
36,783,350 3,637,997 343,794 609,477 40,687,030
159,130,374 9,671,865 1,754,929 3,838 167,051,148
40,972,370 1,290,643 3,267,611 145,425 39,140,827
238,347,335 14,600,505 5,366,334 758,740 248,340,246
743,767 36,531 - - 780,298
28,323,124 1,701,865 341,913 - 29,683,076
87,362,719 12,400,569 1,753,587 - 98,009,701
36,599,932 1,704,473 3,242,167 - 35,062,238
153,029,542 15,843,438 5,337,667 - 163,535,313
85,317,793 (1,242,933) 28,667 758,740 84,804,933
$ 99913249 $ 1,238286 $ 28,667 $ - $ 101,122,868

Prior to 1986, under terms of the former operating agreement with the City, SORTA agreed to
operate transportation equipment and certain operating facilities which had been purchased by the
City primarily under FTA and ODOT capital grants. During 1986, the City transferred the title to
existing transit system physical assets, except for real estate, construction projects and certain

assets which had been conveyed to a bank under a sale and leaseback arrangement.

As an amendment of the City/SORTA operating agreement, titles to the two bus garage and
maintenance facilities were transferred to SORTA in 2021.
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6. Grants, Reimbursements, and Special Fare Assistance

Grants, reimbursements, and special fare assistance included in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 consist

of the following:

Non-operating revenues:
Federal:
FTA-Maintenance and other assistance
State:
ODOT-Fuel tax reimbursement
ODOT-Maintenance and other assistance
Total
County:
Sales and use tax
Local:
Cincinnati Board of Education contract
Other
Total
Capital grant revenue:
Federal
State
Local
Total

7. Lease Commitments

FINANCIAL SECTION

2021 2020
S 24,205,919 S 47,067,501
S 1,140,489 S 975,638
2,963,876 1,740,375
S 4,104,365 S 2,716,013
$134,771,748 S 33,463,956
S 1,694,103 S 2,410,914
218,856 366,870
S 1,912,959 S 2,777,784
$ 13,192,213 $ 11,652,080
2,385,671 1,847,660
9,130,752 3,480,070
$ 24,708,636 $ 16,979,810

SORTA leases its administrative offices and certain park-and-ride facilities under lease
agreements which are accounted for as operating leases. Rent expense under these leases, which
includes certain short-term leases, was approximately $654,801 in 2021 and $533,641 in 2020. At
December 31, 2021, the minimum future payments under leases with terms extending beyond one

year are as follows:

Year Amount
2022 $ 412,058
2023 418,412
2024 387,666
2025 393,306
2026 398,946
2027-2031 2,079,273
2032-2036 1,877,712
Total $ 5,967,373
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8. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The net pension liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to
employees for pensions, or an asset in the case of a net pension asset. Pensions are a component
of exchange transactions between an employer and its employees of salaries and benefits for
employee services. Pensions are provided to an employee on a deferred-payment basis as part of
the total compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each financial
period. The obligation to sacrifice resources for pensions is a present obligation because it was
created as a result of employment exchanges that already have occurred.

The net pension liability represents the Authority’s proportionate share of each pension plan’s
collective actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of
service, net of each pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The net pension liability calculation is
dependent on critical long-term variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings
on investments, cost of living adjustments and others. While these estimates use the best
information available, unknowable future events require adjusting this estimate annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the Authority’s obligation for this liability to annually required payments.
The Authority cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; however,
the Authority does receive the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compensation
including pension.

GASB 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they benefit
from employee services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these employers.
All contributions to date have come solely from these employers (which also includes costs paid in
the form of withholdings from employees). State statute requires the pension plans to amortize
unfunded liabilities within 30 years. If the amortization period exceeds 30 years, each pension
plan’s board must propose corrective action to the State legislature. Any resulting legislative
change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the net pension liability. Resulting
adjustments to the net pension liability would be effective when the changes are legally
enforceable.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net pension
liability on the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required pension
contribution outstanding at the end of the year is included in accrued liabilities.

Plan Description - Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

Authority employees participate in the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS).
OPERS administers three separate pension plans. The traditional pension plan is a cost-sharing,
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The member-directed plan is a defined
contribution plan and the combined plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit
pension plan with defined contribution features, while members (e.g. Authority employees) may
elect the member-directed plan and the combined plan.

OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits, and annual cost of living
adjustments to members of the traditional plan. Authority to establish and amend benefits is
provided by Chapter 145 of the Ohio Revised Code. OPERS issues a stand-alone financial report
that includes financial statements, required supplementary information and detailed information
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about OPERS’ fiduciary net position that may be obtained by visiting https://www.opers.org/
financial/reports.shtml, by writing to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System, 277 East
Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling 800-222-7377.

Senate Bill (SB) 343 was enacted into law with an effective date of January 7, 2013. In the
legislation, members were categorized into three groups with varying provisions of the law
applicable to each group. The following table provides age and service requirements for retirement
and the retirement formula applied to final average salary (FAS) for the three member groups
under the traditional plan as per the reduced benefits adopted by SB 343 (see OPERS ACFR
referenced above for additional information):

Group A Group B Group C
Eligible to retire prior to 20 years of senice credit prior to Members not in other Groups
January 7, 2013 or five years January 7, 2013 or eligible to retire and members hired on or after
after January 7, 2013 ten years after January 7, 2013 January 7, 2013
Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements:
Age 60 with 60 months of senice Age 60 with 60 months of senice Age 57 with 25 years of senice
credit or Age 55 with 25 years of credit or Age 55 with 25 years of credit or Age 62 with 5 years of
senice credit sence credit seniice credit
Formula: Formula: Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of
senice for the first 30 years and 2.5% senvice for the first 30 years and 2.5% senice for the first 35 years and 2.5%
for senice years in excess of 30 for senice years in excess of 30 for senice years in excess of 35

Final average salary (FAS) represents the average of the three highest years of earnings over a
member’s career for Groups A and B. Group C is based on the average of the five highest years of
earnings over a member’s career.

Members who retire before meeting the age and years of service credit requirement for unreduced
benefits receive a percentage reduction in the benefit amount.

When a benefit recipient has received benefits for 12 months, an annual cost of living adjustment
(COLA) is provided. This COLA is calculated on the base retirement benefit at the date of retirement
and is not compounded. For those retiring prior to January 7, 2013, the COLA will continue to be a 3
percent simple annual COLA. For those retiring subsequent to January 7, 2013, beginning in
calendar year 2019, the COLA will be based on the average percentage increase in the Consumer
Price Index, capped at 3 percent.
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Funding Policy
The Ohio Revised Code (ORC) provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions
as follows:
2021 2020
Statutory Maximum Contribution Rates
Employer 14.0% 14.0%
Employee 10.0% 10.0%
Actual Contribution Rates
Employer:
Pension 14.0% 14.0%
Post-employment Health Care Benefits 0.0% 0.0%
Total Employer 14.0% 14.0%
Employee 10.0% 10.0%

Employer contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of
covered payrolls. The Authority’s contractually required contribution was approximately $8,202,000
for 2021 and $7,348,000 for 2020. All required contributions have been paid.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of

Resources Related to Pensions

The 2021 net pension liability (asset) for OPERS was measured as of December 31, 2020, and the
total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of that date. The 2021 OPERS total pension liability was measured as of December
31, 2020, and was determined by rolling forward the total pension liability as of January 1, 2020, to
December 31, 2020, and for 2020, January 1, 2019 rolled forward to December 31, 2019. The
Authority’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the Authority’s share of contributions
to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating entities. Following is information

related to the proportionate share and pension expense:

2021 2020
Traditional Combined Total Traditional Combined Total
Proportionate Share of the Net
Pension Liability (Asset) $53,476,710 ($1,064,610) $52,412,100 $67,970,413 ($734,660) $67,235,753

Proportion of the Net Pension

Liability 0.361138% 0.368807%

Pension Expense ($5,851,396) ($225,373) ($6,076,769)

0.343881%  0.352314%

$10,151,017 $80,660 $10,231,677
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At December 31, 2021, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows

of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Traditional | Combined Total

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Change in assumptions $0 $66,485
Changes in proportion and differences between Authority contri-
butions and proportionate share of contributions 2,370,948 (58,537)
Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date 7,963,411 238,907

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $10,334,359 $246,855( $10,581,214
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net difference between expected and actual experience $2,236,975 $200,849
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension
plan investments 20,843,660 158,324
Changes in proportion and differences between Authority contri- 179,355 (27,008)
butions and proportionate share of contributions

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $23,259,990 $332,165| $23,592,155

At December 31, 2020, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred in-
flows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Traditional | Combined Total

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $0 $75,751
Change in assumptions 3,630,416 0
Changes in proportion and differences between Authority contri- 0 32 510
butions and proportionate share of contributions ’
Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date 7,120,634 227,546

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $10,751,050 $335,807( $11,086,857
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net difference between expected and actual experience $859,389 $172,475
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension
plan investments 13,558,570 95,288
Chgnges in proporti.on and differences bgtw_een Authority contri- 616,415 48,777
butions and proportionate share of contributions

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $15,034,374 $316,540( $15,350,914

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date of $8.2 million are reported as deferred
outflows of resources related to pension as they will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability in the year ending December 31, 2022 rather than in the current fiscal period.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
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Fiscal Year Ending December 31: Traditional Combined

2022 ($7,404,782) ($81,069)

2023 (2,143,670) (53,256)

2024 (8,495,684) (89,642)

2025 (2,844,906) (44,106)

2026 0 (19,739)

Thereafter 0 (36,405)

Total ($20,889,042) ($324,217)

Actuarial Assumptions — OPERS

OPERS’ total pension liability was determined by their actuaries in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 67, as part of their annual actuarial valuation for each defined benefit retire-
ment plan. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported
amounts (e.g., salaries, credited service) and assumptions about the probability of occur-
rence of events far into the future (e.g., mortality, disabilities, retirements, employment termi-
nation). Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifi-
cations, as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made
about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the
plan as understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits pro-
vided at the time of each valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 and
2019 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to
all periods included in the measurement:

Traditional Combined
Wage Inflation 3.25% 3.25%
Future Salary Increases, Including Inflation 3.25% — 10.75% 3.25% - 8.25%
Cost-of-Living Adjustment 3% Simple 3% Simple
Investment Rate of Return 7.20% 7.20%
Actuarial Cost Method Individual entry age | Individual entry age

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Mortality Table projected 20 years using Projection
Scale AA. For males, 105 percent of the combined healthy male mortality rates were used. For
females, 100 percent of the combined healthy female mortality rates were used. The mortality
rates used in evaluating disability allowances were based on the RP-2000 mortality table with
no projections. For males, 120 percent of the disabled male mortality rates were used set for-
ward two years. For females, 100 percent of the disabled female mortality rates were used.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five year period ended December 31,
2015.
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The long-term rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined using a build-
ing-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are devel-
oped for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
real rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset alloca-
tion percentage, adjusted for inflation.

During 2019 and 2018, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined
Benefit portfolio, the Health Care portfolio, and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Defined
Benefit portfolio contains the investment assets for the Traditional Pension Plan, the defined ben-
efit component of the Combined Plan and the annuitized accounts of the Member-Directed Plan.
Within the Defined Benefit portfolio, contributions into the plans are all recorded at the same
time, and benefit payments all occur on the first of the month. Accordingly, the money-weighted
rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans within the portfolio. The annual money-
weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of investment expenses and ad-
justed for the changing amounts actually invested, for the Defined Benefit portfolio was a gain of
12.02% for 2020 and a gain of 17.20% for 2019.

The allocation of investment assets with the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board of
Trustees as outlined in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return
basis with a long-term objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits
provided through the defined benefit pension plans. The tables below displays the Board-
approved asset allocation policy for 2020 and 2019 and the long-term expected real rates of re-

turn:
Target Weighted Average Long
Allocation for Term Expected Real

| Asset Class 2020 Rate of Return
Fixed Income 25.00% 1.32%
Domestic Equities 21.00% 5.64%
Real Estate 10.00% 5.39%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.42%
International Equities 23.00% 7.36%
Other Investments 9.00% 4.75%
TOTAL 100.00% 5.43%

Target Weighted Average Long

Allocation for Term Expected Real

Asset Class 2019 Rate of Return
Fixed Income 25.00% 1.83%
Domestic Equities 19.00% 5.75%
Real Estate 10.00% 5.20%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.70%
International Equities 21.00% 7.66%
Other Investments 13.00% 4.98%
TOTAL 100.00% 5.61%
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Discount Rate The total pension liability was calculated using the discount rate of 7.20 percent
for 2021 and 2020. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the
contributions from employers and from the members would be computed based on contribution
requirements as stipulated by State statute.

Projected inflows from investment earnings were calculated using the long-term assumed invest-
ment rate of return (7.20 percent for 2021 and 2020). Based on those assumptions, the plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all future benefit payments of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefits to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to
Changes in the Discount Rate Net pension liability (asset) is sensitive to changes in the dis-
count rate, and to illustrate the potential impact the following table presents the net pension lia-
bility calculated using the discount rate of 7.20 percent for 2021 and 2020, as well as what each
plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one per-
centage point lower (6.20 percent), or one percentage point higher (8.20 percent) than the cur-

rent rate.
1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
2021:
(6.20%) Rate (7.20%) (8.20%)
Authority's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset)
- Traditional Pension Plan $102,007,039 $53,476,710 $13,123,755
- Combined Plan ($741,302) ($1,064,610) ($1,305,577)
1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
2020:
(6.20%) Rate (7.20%) (8.20%)
Authority's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset)
- Traditional Pension Plan $112,105,206 $67,970,413 $28,294,529
- Combined Plan ($443,916) ($734,660) ($944,202)
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9. Postemployment Benefits

Net OPEB Liability

The net OPEB liability reported on the Statements of Net Position represents a liability to em-
ployees for OPEB. OPEB is a component of exchange transactions-—between an employer and
its employees—of salaries and benefits for employee services. OPEB are provided to an em-
ployee—on a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an
employer for employee services each financial period. The obligation to allocate resources for
OPEB is a present obligation because it was created as a result of employment exchanges that
already have occurred.

The net OPEB liability represents the Authority’s proportionate share of each OPEB plan’s col-
lective actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of ser-
vice, net of each OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. The net OPEB liability calculation is de-
pendent on critical long-term variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings
on investments, cost of living adjustments and others. While these estimates use the best infor-
mation available, unforeseen future events require adjusting these estimates annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the Authority’s obligation for this liability to annually required pay-
ments. The Authority cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which OPEB are financed,;
however, the Authority does receive the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compen-
sation including OPEB.

GASB 75 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because they benefit from
employee services. OPEB contributions come from these employers and health care plan enrol-
lees which pay a portion of the health care costs in the form of a monthly premium. The Ohio
revised Code permits, but does not require the retirement systems to provide healthcare to eligi-
ble benefit recipients. Any change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the net OPEB
liability. Resulting adjustments to the net OPEB liability would be effective when the changes are
legally enforceable. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer contributions
to provide for these OPEB benéefits.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net OPEB
liability on the accrual basis of accounting.

Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

OPERS maintains a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit post-employment health
care trust, which funds multiple health care plans including medical coverage, prescription drug
coverage and deposits to a Health Reimbursement Arrangement to qualifying benefit recipients
of both the traditional pension and the combined plans. This trust is also used to fund health
care for member-directed plan participants, in the form of a Retiree Medical Account (RMA). At
retirement or refund, member directed plan participants may be eligible for reimbursement of
qualified medical expenses from their vested RMA balance.
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In order to qualify for postemployment health care coverage, retirees under the traditional pen-
sion and combined plans must have twenty or more years of qualifying Ohio service credit.
Health care coverage for disability benefit recipients and qualified survivor benefit recipients is
available. The health care coverage provided by OPERS meets the definition of an Other Post
Employment Benefit (OPEB) as described in GASB Statement 75. See OPERS’ ACFR refer-
enced below for additional information.

The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require OPERS to provide health care to its eligi-
ble benefit recipients. Authority to establish and amend health care coverage is provided to the
Board in Chapter 145 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Disclosures for the health care plan are presented separately in the OPERS financial report.
Interested parties may obtain a copy by visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by
writing to OPERS, 277 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling (614) 222-
5601 or 800-222-7377.

Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code provides the statutory authority requiring public em-
ployers to fund postemployment health care through their contributions to OPERS. When fund-
ing is approved by OPERS Board of Trustees, a portion of each employer’s contribution to
OPERS is set aside to fund OPERS health care plans.

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of the earnable salary of active
members. In 2021 and 2020, state and local employers contributed at a rate of 14.0 percent of
earnable salary and public safety and law enforcement employers contributed at 18.1 percent.
These are the maximum employer contribution rates permitted by the Ohio Revised Code. Ac-
tive member contributions do not fund health care.

Each year, the OPERS Board determines the portion of the employer contribution rate that will
be set aside to fund health care plans. The portion of employer contributions allocated to health
care for members in the Traditional Pension Plan and Combined Plan was 0 percent during cal-
endar year 2021. The OPERS Board is also authorized to establish rules for the retiree or their
surviving beneficiaries to pay a portion of the health care provided. Payment amounts vary de-
pending on the number of covered dependents and the coverage selected. The employer contri-
bution as a percentage of covered payroll deposited into the RMA for participants in the Member
-Directed Plan for 2021 was 4.0 percent.

Employer contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of
covered payroll.

The Authority did not make any contributions to OPERS to fund health care in 2021.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to OPEB

The net OPEB liability and total OPEB liability for OPERS were determined by an actuarial valu-
ation as of December 31, 2019, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2020,
and December 31, 2020, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2021, by in-
corporating the expected value of health care cost accruals, the actual health care payment, and
interest accruals during the year.
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The following is information related to the proportionate share and OPEB expense:

Proportion of the Net OPEB Liability:
Current Measurement Date
Prior Measurement Date

Change in Proportionate Share

Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset)

OPEB Expense

2020
0.360500% 0.342849%
0.342849% 0.346368%
0.017651% -0.003519%
($6,415,827) $47,356,353
($38,051,350) $5,382,399

At December 31, 2021, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows

of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

OPERS
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Change in assumptions $3,158,493
Change in proportionate share 1,516,057
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $4,674,550
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net difference between expected and actual experience $5,796,974
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB 3.421.107
plan investments ’ ’
Change in assumptions 10,406,530
Change in proportionate share 106,389
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $19,731,000

At December 31, 2020, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows

of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

OPERS
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $1,271
Change in assumptions 7,496,006
Change in proportionate share 175,753
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $7,673,030,
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net difference between expected and actual experience $4,330,956
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB
plan investments 2,411,372
Change in proportionate share 266,322
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $7,008,650,
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The Authority did not report any amounts as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB result-
ing from Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date, therefore, none will be rec-
ognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ending December 31, 2022.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relat-
ed to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ending December 31, OPERS
2022 ($7,867,133)
2023 (5,352,918)
2024 (1,433,330)
2025 (403,069)
Total ($15,056,450)

Actuarial Assumptions - OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the values of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include as-
sumptions about future employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are
subject to continual review or modification as actual results are compared with past expectations
and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan and in-
clude the types of coverage provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of
sharing of costs between OPERS and plan members. The total OPEB liability was determined by
an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019, rolled forward to the measurement date of Decem-
ber 31, 2020, and a 2018 valuation rolled forward to 2019. The actuarial valuation used the follow-
ing actuarial assumptions applied to all prior periods included in the measurement in accordance
with the requirements of GASB 74:

2020 2019

Wage Inflation 3.25 percent 3.25 percent
Projected Salary Increases, 3.25 to 10.75 percent 3.25to0 10.75 percent
including inflation including wage inflation including wage inflation
Single Discount Rate:

Current measurement date 6.00 percent 3.16 percent

Prior Measurement date 3.16 percent 3.96 percent
Investment Rate of Return 6.00 percent 6.00 percent
Municipal Bond Rate 2.00 percent 2.75 percent
Health Care Cost Trend Rate 8.5 percent, initial 10.5 percent, initial

3.50 percent, ultimate in 2035 3.50 percent, ultimate in 2030

Actuarial Cost Method Individual entry age Individual entry age normal
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Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and
females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006.
The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively.
Post-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for
males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year
of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respec-
tively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the RP-2014 Disabled
mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation
period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015
and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying
the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above described tables.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five year period ended December 31,
2015.

The long-term expected rate of return on health care investment assets was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are de-
veloped for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
real rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage, adjusted for inflation.

During 2020 and 2019, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined
Benefit portfolio, the Health Care portfolio and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Health Care
portfolio includes the assets for health care expenses for the Traditional Pension Plan, Combined
Plan and Member-Directed Plan eligible members. Within the Health Care portfolio, contributions
into the plans are assumed to be received continuously throughout the year based on the actual
payroll payable at the time contributions are made, and health care-related payments are assumed
to occur mid-year. Accordingly, the money-weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for
all plans within the portfolio. The annual money-weighted rate of return expressing investment per-
formance, net of investment expenses and adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested, for
the Health Care portfolio was a gain of 10.96% for 2020 and a gain of 19.70 % for 2019.

The allocation of investment assets within the Health Care portfolio is approved by the Board of
Trustees as outlined in the annual investment plan. Assets are managed on a total return basis
with a long-term objective of continuing to offer a sustainable health care program for current and
future retirees. OPERS’ primary goal is to achieve and maintain a fully funded status for the bene-
fits provided through the defined pension plans. Health care is a discretionary benefit. The table
below displays the Board-approved asset allocation policy for 2020 and 2019 and the long-term
expected real rates of return:
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2020 2019
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected Long-Term Expected
Real Rate of Return Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Target Allocation (Arithmetic) Target Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 34.00% 1.07% 36.00% 1.53%
Domestic Equities 25.00% 5.64% 21.00% 5.75%
REITs 7.00% 6.48% 6.00% 5.69%
International Equities 25.00% 7.36% 23.00% 7.66%
Other Investments 9.00% 4.02% 14.00% 4.90%
Total 100.00% 4.43% 100.00% 4.55%

Discount Rate

A single discount rate of 6.00% and 3.16% was used to measure the OPEB liability (asset) on
the measurement date of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Projected benefit pay-
ments are required to be discounted to their actuarial present value using a single discount rate
that reflects (1) a long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments (to the extent
that the health care fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay benefits), and (2)
tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds with an
average AA credit rating as of the measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use
with the long-term expected rate are not met). This single discount rate was based on an ex-
pected rate of return on the health care investment portfolio of 6.00% and a municipal bond rate
of 2.00% and 2.75% as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The projection of cash
flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that employer contributions will be
made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rate. Based on these assump-
tions, the health care fiduciary net position and future contributions were sufficient to finance
health care costs through 2120 for December 31, 2020 (2032 for December 31, 2019). As a re-
sult, the long-term expected rate of return on health care investments was applied to projected
costs through 2120 for December 31, 2020 (2032 for December 31, 2019), and the municipal
bond rate was applied to all health care costs after that date.

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in
the Discount Rate

The following tables present the Authority’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset)
calculated using the single discount rate, as well as what the Authority’s proportionate share of the
net OPEB liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-
percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

0021: 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
) (5.00%) Rate (6.00%) (7.00%)

IAuthority's proportionate share

of the net OPEB liability (asset) ($6,579,125) ($6,415,827) ($6,247,465)

52



FINANCIAL SECTION

Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (continued)

h020: 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
' (2.96%) Rate (3.96%) (4.96%)

IAuthority's proportionate share

of the net OPEB liability $61,973,385 $47,356,353 $35,652,868

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in the
Health Care Cost Trend Rate

Changes in the health care cost trend rate may also have a significant impact on the net OPEB lia-
bility. The following tables present the net OPEB liability (asset) calculated using the assumed
trend rates, and the expected net OPEB liability (asset) if it were calculated using a health care
cost trend rate that is 1.0 percent lower or 1.0 percent higher than the current rate.

Retiree health care valuations use a health care cost-trend assumption that changes over several
years built into the assumption. The near-term rates reflect increases in the current cost of health
care; the trend starting in 2021 is 8.50% (10.50% in 2020). If this trend continues for future years,
the projection indicates that years from now virtually all expenditures will be for health care. A more
reasonable alternative is that in the not-too-distant future, the health plan cost trend will decrease
to a level at, or near, wage inflation. On this basis, the actuaries project premium rate increases will
continue to exceed wage inflation for approximately the next decade, but by less each year, until
leveling off at an ultimate rate, assumed to be 3.50% in the most recent valuation.

Health Care Cost

2021:
1% Decrease Trend Rate Assumption 1% Increase

Authority's proportionate share of

the net OPEB liability (asset) (86,579,125) ($6,415,827) ($6,247,465)

Health Care Cost

2020:
1% Decrease Trend Rate Assumption 1% Increase

Authority's proportionate share of

the net OPEB liability $45,958,908 $47,356,353 $48,735,985

OPEB plan fiduciary net position

Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately is-
sued OPERS financial report.

Payable to the OPEB Plan
The Authority did not have a payable to the OPEB plan as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Other Benefits Provided

In addition to the other postemployment benefits provided by OPERS, SORTA also provides a
$2,000 life insurance benefit to each retired hourly employee.
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The life insurance benefits are provided through group insurance arrangements which are fund-
ed by SORTA through payment of monthly insurance premiums. As of December 31, 2021, 507
individuals were eligible to receive life insurance benefits.

On its Statements of Net Position as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, SORTA has recorded an
accrued liability for life insurance benefits of $1,797,172 and $888,199, respectively. These lia-
bilities represent the present value of the estimated future life insurance premiums that are ex-
pected to be paid for retirees who were eligible for benefits as of each of the dates indicated.
The liability for life insurance benefits includes a provision for estimated amounts which will be
paid for existing employees.

These liabilities were determined based on the following assumptions:

2021 2020
Future annual increases in life insurance premiums 7.00% 1.40%
Remaining life expectancy* - Life 14.6 yrs 14.9 yrs
Interest factor 1.40% 0.16%

*Based on U.S. National Center for Health Statistics, Vital Statistics of the U.S. 2019 (most recent available).

The total provision recognized by the Authority for postemployment benefits not provided under
OPERS was approximately $940,000 and $79,000 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

10. Risk Management

SORTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of
assets; errors or omissions; injuries to employees; or acts of God. Blanket insurance coverage
has been obtained to cover damage or destruction to the Authority’s property and SORTA is self-
insured for public liability, personal injury, and third-party property damage claims. During 2019,
the City of Cincinnati transferred $3,000,000 of funds previously held in the City Income Tax-
Transit Fund (see Note 3) to SORTA. These funds may be used to fund individual claims against
SORTA to the extent that each claim is in excess of $100,000 per incident. Claims expense and

a liability are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can
be reasonably estimated.
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On January 1, 1995, the Authority became self-insured for workers’ compensation benefits. Pri-
or to 1995, SORTA was insured through the State of Ohio for workers’ compensation benefits.
The State of Ohio Bureau of Workers’ Compensation continues to be liable for all claims prior to
January 1, 1995. As shown below, the estimated amount due for workers’ compensation claims
is included in the accrual for estimated claims payable. SORTA carries liability insurance to cov-
er any workers’ compensation claim in excess of $250,000 through December 31, 2001,
$350,000 through December 31, 2003, $400,000 through January 31, 2011, $500,000 through
March 31, 2017, and $550,000 thereafter.

On January 1, 2018, the Authority became self-insured for public liability/property damage insur-
ance. Prior to this date, the Authority is responsible for all loses incurred; for claims occurring
after this date, the Authority is only responsible for $1,000,000 per occurrence.

Each of these liabilities include an amount for claims that may have been incurred but not report-
ed. These claim liabilities have been calculated on an actuarial basis considering the effects of
inflation, recent claim settlement trends including frequency and amount of pay-outs, and other
economic factors. The present value of each of these liabilities is calculated using an interest
rate of 1.4%.

On January 1, 2017, the Authority became self-funded for health insurance. In 2021 and 2020,
the plan assumed zero specific stop loss in both years, and a $300,000 stop loss for the group in
both years.

The changes in the liabilities for self-insured risks for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019 are as follows:

Workers' Public Liability/ Health
Compensation Property Damage Insurance Total
Balance, January 1, 2019 S 4,015,973 S 2,915,919 S 1,316,466 S 8,248,358
Claims, net of changes in estimates 768,805 4,448,335 9,814,679 15,031,819
Payments (522,290) (1,002,925) (10,284,741) (11,809,956)
Balance, December 31, 2019 4,262,488 6,361,329 846,404 11,470,221
Claims, net of changes in estimates 1,224,756 4,468,788 11,335,879 17,029,423
Payments (794,323) (6,110,232) (11,317,645) (18,222,200)
Balance, December 31, 2020 4,692,921 4,719,885 864,638 10,277,444
Claims, net of changes in estimates 393,740 10,334,203 13,470,385 24,198,328
Payments (833,439) (11,968,537) (13,288,307) (26,090,283)
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 4,253,222 $ 3,085,551 $ 1,046,716 $ 8,385,489

The liabilities above represent the Authority’s best estimates based upon available information.
Settled claims have not exceeded the Authority’s commercial insurance coverage for any of the
past three years.
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11. Contingencies and Commitments

12,

A. Litigation and Claims

It is the Authority’s policy, within certain limits (see Note 10), to act as self-insurer for certain
insurable risks consisting primarily of public liability, property damage, health insurance and
workers’ compensation. As of December 31, 2021, SORTA had been named in various public
liability and property damage claims and suits, some of which seek significant damages. The
ultimate outcome of those matters cannot be determined; however, it is the opinion of man-
agement that any resulting liability to the Authority in excess of the amount provided for in the
accompanying Statements of Net Position, and which is not covered by insurance, will not
have a material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial position.

B. Federal and State Grants

Under the terms of the Authority’s various grants, periodic audits are required where certain
costs could be questioned as not being eligible expenditures under the terms of the grants. At
December 31, 2021, there were no questioned costs that had not been resolved with appropri-
ate federal and state agencies. Questioned costs could still be identified during audits to be
conducted in the future. In the opinion of SORTA’s management, no material grant expendi-
tures will be disallowed.

C. Purchase Commitments

The Authority has committed to purchase 25 Metro buses during 2022 at a cost of approxi-
mately $14.7 million, of which Federal grant funding will pay for approximately $9.9 million.

Energy Forward Pricing Mechanisms

Pursuant to Attorney General Opinion No.89-080 dated October 16, 1989, SORTA may enter into
forward pricing mechanisms (e.g., commodity-type futures, options, contracts, etc.) as a budget
risk reduction tool to manage price variability and cost/budget uncertainty associated with the pur-
chase of Authority-consumed energy (e.g., diesel fuel). Since May 2006, SORTA has hedged its
diesel consumption (approximately 3 million gallons per year) with Energy Forward Pricing Mech-
anisms (EFPM). This program’s objective is to manage a large portion of Metro’s exposure to fuel
price swings. EFPMs may be comprised of any single or combined use of futures, options, op-
tions on futures, or fixed price delivery contracts. In 2020 and 2019, heating oil #2 futures con-
tracts (“contracts”) and fixed-price supply contracts were utilized. The SORTA Board approval
limits contracts in-place to ninety percent of consumption expected in any one month. Additional-
ly, a dynamic strategy using futures will also enhance SORTA's ability to maintain a relatively
static forward pricing profile. This means that at any point in time, SORTA's fuel supply will be
90% hedged for each of the next 12 to 24 months and 50% for each of the next 25 to 36
months. The initial value of each contract is zero. The price of diesel fuel purchased any day is
the published Cincinnati rack price for the prior day plus or minus a differential agreed to through
a competitive bidding process.
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13.

When fuel is purchased, contracts are exercised, thereby effectively tying the fuel price to the price
of #2 heating oil as of the date of the contract’s creation. For the years ending December 31, 2021
and 2020, gains of $901,597 (36.2 cents per gallon) and losses of $1,638,748 (77.3 cents per gal-
lon), respectively, were recognized as a decrease and increase, respectively, in diesel fuel ex-
pense. On December 31, 2021 and 20120, the remaining open contracts had $2,651,221 of unre-
alized gains and $199,391 of unrealized losses, respectively. There is no debt associated with
these contracts and unrealized losses are fully funded.

As outlined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board Technical Bulletin 2003-1, there are cer-

tain risks attached to this program. Metro may face increased costs if: (1) fuel consumption falls
below the contract levels, or (2) the closing value of the contract is below its nominal value.

Subsequent Events

In January, 2022, SORTA and the Amalgamated Transit Union Local 627 reached an agreement to
approve a new, three-year contract.

Among the contract’s highlights are:
» 2.5% wage increases every six months, retroactive to January 2021
« Increased starting wage of $21 per hour for new operators (after paid training)

« Yearly increases in top earning wages for operators and mechanics, reaching $32.39 per hour
and $34.33 per hour, respectively, by contract’s end

e New “premium pay” structure for operators running high-ridership routes to ensure more reliable
service for the most customers

As this agreement is retroactive to the beginning of 2021, SORTA has accrued approximately $1.3
million in labor and fringe benefits expense in 2021, with payments taking place in January, 2022.
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Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020

Changes in Assumptions — OPERS Pension — Traditional Plan

OPERS'’ total pension liability was determined by their actuaries in accordance with GASB State-
ment No. 67, as part of their annual actuarial valuation for each defined benefit retirement plan.
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts (e.g.,
salaries, credited service) and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into
the future (e.g., mortality, disabilities, retirements, employment termination). Actuarially deter-
mined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as actual results are
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan
as understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at
the time of each valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 and 2019 actuarial
valuation for the OPERS Pension—Traditional Plan was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

2021 2020
Wage Inflation 3.25% 3.25%
Future Salary Increases, Including Inflation 3.25% — 10.75% 3.25% — 10.75%
Cost-of-Living Adjustment 3% Simple 3% Simple
Investment Rate of Return 7.20% 7.20%
Actuarial Cost Method Individual entry age | Individual entry age

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Mortality Table projected 20 years using Projection
Scale AA. For males, 105 percent of the combined healthy male mortality rates were used. For fe-
males, 100 percent of the combined healthy female mortality rates were used. The mortality rates
used in evaluating disability allowances were based on the RP-2000 mortality table with no projec-
tions. For males, 120 percent of the disabled male mortality rates were used set forward two years.
For females, 100 percent of the disabled female mortality rates were used.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five year period ended December 31,
2015.

Changes in Assumptions — OPERS Pension — Combined Plan

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan
as understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at
the time of each valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 and 2019 actuarial
valuation for the OPERS Pension—Combined Plan was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
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2021 2020
Wage Inflation 3.25% 3.25%
Future Salary Increases, Including Inflation 3.25% - 8.25% 3.25% - 8.25%
Cost-of-Living Adjustment 3% Simple 3% Simple
Investment Rate of Return 7.20% 7.20%
Actuarial Cost Method Individual entry age | Individual entry age

Changes in Assumptions — OPERS OPEB

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the values of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts
are subject to continual review or modification as actual results are compared with past expecta-
tions and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan and in-
clude the types of coverage provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of
sharing of costs between OPERS and plan members. The total OPEB liability was determined by
an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019, rolled forward to the measurement date of De-
cember 31, 2020, and a 2018 valuation rolled forward to 2019. The actuarial valuation used the
following actuarial assumptions applied to all prior periods included in the measurement in accord-
ance with the requirements of GASB 74

2020
3.25 percent

3.25 t0 10.75 percent
including wage inflation

2019
3.25 percent
3.25 to 10.75 percent
including wage inflation

Wage Inflation

Projected Salary Increases,
including inflation

Single Discount Rate:

Current measurement date
Prior Measurement date
Investment Rate of Return
Municipal Bond Rate
Health Care Cost Trend Rate

Actuarial Cost Method

6.00 percent
3.16 percent
6.00 percent
2.00 percent

8.5 percent, initial
3.50 percent, ultimate in 2035 3.50 percent, ultimate in 2030
Individual entry age

3.16 percent
3.96 percent
6.00 percent
2.75 percent

10.5 percent, initial

Individual entry age normal
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Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and
females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The
base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-
retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males
and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006.
The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively.
Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality
table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period
base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was then established to be 2015 and
2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying the
MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above described tables.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five year period ended December 31,
2015.
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Supplemental Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position—

Budget and Actual (GAAP Basis)
For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021

Operating revenues
Operating expenses other than depreciation:
Labor
Fringe benefits
Materials and supplies consumed
Services
Utilities
Casualty and liability
Taxes
Leases and rentals
Miscellaneous
Pension and OPEB expense (revenue)
Total
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Local operating grants and special fare assistance
Sales and use tax revenue
Federal maintenance grants and reimbursements
State maintenance grants, reimbursements
and special fare assistance
Investment income-net
Decrease in fair value of investments
Non-transportation revenue
Total
Net income (loss) before capital grant activity
Capital grant revenue
Increase (decrease) in net position during the year
Net position, beginning of year (as restated)
Net position, end of year

Budget
S 15,751,621

Actual
S 12,529,067

FINANCIAL SECTION

Variance
Positive
(Negative)
S (3,222,554)

59,675,156 56,404,084 3,271,072
31,098,501 30,857,827 240,674
12,610,825 11,888,785 722,040

9,501,183 7,312,065 2,189,118
1,720,688 1,809,246 (88,558)
1,569,996 11,272,847 (9,702,851)
1,246,695 1,277,266 (30,571)
1,386,913 879,026 507,887
3,932,552 3,647,403 285,149

- (44,128,119) 44,128,119
122,742,509 81,220,430 41,522,079
15,901,098 15,901,098 -
138,643,607 97,121,528 41,522,079
(122,891,986) (84,592,461) 38,299,525
7,951,061 11,392,699 3,441,638
83,779,025 134,771,748 50,992,723
12,610,610 24,205,919 11,595,309
2,356,840 4,104,365 1,747,525
59,604 87,162 27,558

- (126,128) (126,128)

233,748 770,309 536,561
106,990,888 175,206,074 68,215,186
(15,901,098) 90,613,613 106,514,711
- 24,708,636 24,708,636
(15,901,098) 115,322,249 131,223,347
39,064,896 39,064,896 -

S 23,163,798

$ 154,387,145

$131,223,347

67



STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority’'s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
presents detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial
statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the Authority's
overall financial health.

Contents Page(s)

FINANCIAl TTENAS ...coeeerersres s s s sesssssssssssssasssssessessesssssssssssssssssssnssnssnsssssasssssssnssnssnssnssessnssnssnssssasnns 69-76
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the
Authority’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

1D 123 01 06 ) .1 Lol 1/ 77
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability
of the Authority’s current levels of outstanding debt and the Authority’s ability to
issue additional debt in the future.

Economic and Demographic Information ... 78-79
These schedules offer economic and demographic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Authority’s financial activities take
place.

Operating INfOrmation....... s 80-87
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the Authority’s financial report relates to the
services the Authority provides and the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the Annual
Comprehensive Financial Reports for the relevant year.
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Crowe

Crowe LLP
Independent Member Crowe Global

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Finance Committee
Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority
Cincinnati, Ohio

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority (“Authority”) as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
July 25, 2022.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority's
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal
control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2021-
001 that we consider to be a material weakness.

(Continued)



Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority 's financial statements are
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct
and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Authority’s Response to Finding

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the
Authority’s response to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Authority’s response was not subjected to the
other auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on the response.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Authority’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other
purpose.

Crowe LLP

Crowe LLP

Columbus, Ohio
July 25, 2022




Crowe Crowe LLP

Independent Member Crowe Global

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR MAJOR
FEDERAL PROGRAM; REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE;
AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL
AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Finance Committee
Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority
Cincinnati, Ohio

Report on Compliance for Major Federal Program

We have audited the Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority’s (Authority) compliance with the
types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the Authority’s major federal program
for the year ended December 31, 2021. The Authority’s major federal program is identified in the
summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned
costs.

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

Basis for Opinion on Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States
(Government Auditing Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those
standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities,
in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of
the Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements
applicable to the Authority’s federal programs.

(Continued)



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and
express an opinion on the Authority’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting
material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered
material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence
the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Authority’s
compliance with the requirements of the major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the
Uniform Guidance, we

e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the Authority’s compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

e obtain an understanding of the Authority’s internal control over compliance relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on
a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

(Continued)



Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to
be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended December
31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Authority’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated July 25, 2022, which
contained an unmodified opinion on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the
purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic
financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented
for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part
of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal
awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.

Crowe LLP

Crowe LLP

Columbus, Ohio
July 25, 2022




SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Federal Grantor Agency/ Federal Pass-through  Passed Through Total
Pass-Through Grantor/ AL Identifying Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures
U.S. Department of Transportation:
Federal Transit Administration (FTA):
Federal Transit Cluster:
Received directly from FTA:
COVID-19 Formula Grants 20.507 N/A 24,045,309
Formula Grants 20.507 N/A 11,391,134
Subtotal CFDA 20.507 35,436,443
State of Good Repair Grants Program 20.525 N/A 10,610
Bus Program 20.526 N/A 1,845,242
Total Federal Transit Cluster 37,292,295
Passed-through the Stark Area Regional Transit Authority:
Public Transportation Innovation 20.530 N/A 150,000
TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 37,442,295

See accompanying Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.



SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General:

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal
award programs of the Authority. The Authority’s reporting entity is defined in Note 1 to the

Authority’s financial statements.

Basis of Presentation:

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") includes the
federal award activity of the Authority under programs of the federal government for the year
ended December 31, 2021. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Authority, it is not
intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of
the Authority.

Basis of Accounting:

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in OMB Circular
A-87, Cost Principles for State and Local Governments, or the cost principles contained in Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, wherein certain types of expenditures
are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule
represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business to amounts reported as
expenditures in prior years.

De Minimis Cost Rate:

The Authority has elected to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the
Uniform Guidance.

NOTE 2 - NON-CASH AND FEDERAL INSURANCE

There were no non-cash awards or Federal Insurance maintained in the current year.




SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the
financial statements audited were prepared
in accordance with GAAP:
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?
Federal Awards
Internal Control over major federal programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for

Unmodified

v Yes No

Yes v None Reported

Yes v No

Yes v No

Yes v None Reported

major federal programs: Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a) Yes v__No
Identification of major federal programs:
Assistance Listing Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster
20.507, 20.525, & 20.526 Federal Transit Cluster
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $1,123,269
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes v __No

(Continued)



SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings
Finding 2021-001 — Controls over Financial Reporting

Criteria

Entities are required to submit to the State of Ohio through the Hinkle System the draft financial
statements. The auditor is required to use the financial statements that are submitted in the Hinkle
system as the basis for the audited amounts.

Condition
During the audit, several adjustments were made to the draft financial statements that were
submitted through the Hinkle System.

Context

These adjustments included entries to the following accounts: accounts receivable, deferred
inflows, deferred outflows, net pension liability, net OPEB asset/liability, accrued payroll liabilities,
net position, federal grant revenues, income tax revenues, City Transit Fund income, claims
expense, pension/OPEB expense and miscellaneous employee benefit expenses.

Cause
The Authority had turnover of personnel during the current year.

Effect
Material adjustments were made to the financial statements that were filed in the Hinkle System.

Recommendation
We recommend that all entries be finalized before filing in the Hinkle System.

Management Response

Management concurs with the recommendation from Crowe LLP and will attempt to have our
audit concluded earlier so that all entries are included in the financial statements that are filed in
the Hinkle System.

(Continued)



SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Section lll - Federal Award Findings

There were no findings for the year ended December 31, 2021.

10.



SOUTHWEST OHIO REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs

2020-001
In the prior year, one employee was paid the incorrect amount. There were no errors found during

the testing of payroll in the current year.

11.
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